Document:

Agenda:

Date:

1 October 2008

Distribution:

Public

Original:

English



IFAD's role in middle-income countries

Consultation on the Eighth Replenishment of IFAD's Resources — Fourth Session Rome, 21-22 October 2008

For: **Review**

Note to Consultation members

This document is submitted for review by the Consultation on the Eighth Replenishment of IFAD Resources.

To make the best use of time available at Consultation sessions, members are invited to contact the following focal point with any technical questions about this document before the session:

Brian Baldwin

Senior Operations Management Adviser

telephone: +39 06 5459 2377 e-mail: b.baldwin@ifad.org

Queries regarding the dispatch of documentation for this session should be addressed to:

Deirdre McGrenra

Governing Bodies Officer telephone: +39 06 5459 2374 e-mail: d.mcgrenra@ifad.org

Contents

Abbre	eviations and acronyms	ii
I.	Summary	1
II.	The evolving situation of the middle-income countries: implications for international development institutions	1
III.	IFAD's mandate for engagement with middle-income countries	2
IV.	Availability of IFAD resources for middle-income countries	4
V.	Adapting IFAD's approach to middle-income countries	5
VI.	Enhancing IFAD's financial products and services	5
VII.	Enhancing IFAD's knowledge products and services	7
VIII.	Enhancing IFAD's role in innovation	9
IX.	The way forward: key actions.	10

i

Abbreviations and acronyms

ARRI	Annual Report on Results and Impact of IFAD Operations
IBRD	International Bank for Reconstruction and Development
IFIs	international financial institutions

IFIs international financial ins MICs middle-income countries

IFAD's role in middle-income countries

I. Summary

1. The Annual Report on Results and Impact of IFAD Operations (ARRI) for 2007 indicates that IFAD makes an important contribution to the efforts of many middleincome countries (MICs) to address rural poverty issues. In parallel, the rapid growth of many MICs in recent years and their increasing ability to access resources from the international capital markets has led the international financial institutions (IFIs) to take steps to ensure that their financial packages to these countries remain attractive. In addition, IFIs are adding value to MIC poverty reduction programmes by deepening the knowledge content of their initiatives. IFAD needs to undertake a similar adaptation given the continuing relevance of IFAD's support for rural poverty reduction and the continuing interest of MICs in having IFAD provide such support. IFAD, to enhance its contributions to MICs, needs to ensure that its lending terms are aligned with other IFIs, increase the efficiency of its operations and build its capacity to provide the knowledge and innovative programmes the MICs are looking for. This paper includes recommendations in these areas to enable IFAD to achieve its potential in contributing to rural poverty reduction in the MICs. Among them are a review of lending parameters, changes in operational procedures for programme design and implementation, the development of criteria to assess borrowing needs, and continued implementation of the IFAD knowledge management strategy to include features with specific relevance to MICs.

II. The evolving situation of the middle-income countries: implications for international development institutions

- 2. One third of the world's poor people live in MICs, most of them in rural areas. According to the 2005 World Development Indicators published by the World Bank, 94 countries fall into the middle-income range, 77 of whom are IFAD Members. Those at the top end of the range, the upper middle-income countries (e.g. Mexico, with US\$7,310 per capita) have per capita incomes five or six times higher than those at the low end of the range, the lower middle-income countries (e.g. Sri Lanka: US\$1,160 per capita).
- 3. The past decade has seen rapid growth rates in many MICs. This, combined with increased availability of the skills, experience and competence needed to manage their economies, has enhanced their ability to raise financial resources from the international capital markets at rates comparable to those available from the IFIs.
- 4. The evolution of MICs has led international development institutions to clarify and sharpen their strategies for supporting them. Recent policy papers prepared by the World Bank,² the African Development Bank³ and the Asian Development Bank⁴ have begun to address these issues. Responses thus far share a number of features that will have a bearing on IFAD's approach:

¹ For the purposes of the technical discussion in this paper, MICs are defined as the 57 Member States eligible to borrow from IFAD on intermediate or ordinary terms. (The remaining 20 Member States that are designated by the World Development Indicators as MICs are all lower middle-income countries and remain eligible for IFAD highly concessional loans).

² Pourlanment Population Middle in the concession of the contraction of the contraction

² Development Results in Middle-income Countries: An Evaluation of the World Bank's Support. Independent Evaluation Group (IEG). 2007.

³ The African Development Bank strategic framework for support to MICs is currently under preparation.

⁴ Enhancing Asian Development Bank Support to Middle-income Countries and Borrowers from Ordinary Capital Resources: First Progress Report. January 2008.

- There is a consensus that the IFIs should continue to be involved in this group of countries, given the high levels of residual poverty;
- To remain relevant in these countries, the IFIs must set interest rates at levels comparable to finance from other sources, provide a range of financial products, and streamline their lending conditions and procedures to reduce transaction costs;
- For many of these countries, given their access to financial resources, the IFIs add value through their global and regional knowledge, and there is a broad consensus on the need to invest in deepening this knowledge and disseminating it more effectively; and
- While there may be a limited role for stand-alone provision of knowledge services, these are seen as most effective when combined with financing.
- 5. From the perspective of both its membership base and its place in the development architecture, IFAD needs to adapt to the evolving situation of MICs. This has been recognized by the Accra Agenda for Action, which endorsed the need to adapt the commitments agreed at Accra to different country circumstances, including in MICs.⁵ The purpose of this paper is therefore to establish the platform for IFAD, in line with what other IFIs are doing, to explore ways to lower its financial and transaction costs, and to deepen its knowledge content and capacity to support rural poverty reduction in the rapidly evolving situation in MIC Member States.

III. IFAD's mandate for engagement with middle-income countries

6. The Agreement Establishing IFAD, the Lending Policies and Criteria and the IFAD Strategic Framework 2007-2010 all confirm that IFAD's mandate to address rural poverty is highly relevant to MICs. Although these countries overall have sustained a high rate of growth, there are still large numbers of poor people in rural areas.

Box 1: Rural poverty in Brazil

Brazil's per capita income of US\$3,550 in 2005 (based on the World Bank World Development Indicators) places it within the upper middle income category. Yet, as noted in the country strategic opportunities programme (reviewed by IFAD's Executive Board on 11 September 2008), there is a need to break "the vicious cycle of poverty that is perpetuated by the lack of sustainable sources of income and employment for the rural poor." Family agriculture is important in Brazil. It accounts for 85 per cent of farms, 30 per cent of the farming area, 38 per cent of agricultural output and 50 per cent of agricultural investment and employs 14 million people on more than four million farms. Poverty is widespread in the country and, in spite of recent progress, the levels remain high, particularly in the rural areas and in the north-east, which has the highest incidence of poverty. In 2004, 7.5 per cent of the total population were earning less than a dollar a day, and those earning less than two dollars a day accounted for 21.2 per cent of the total population. The main problems facing small farmers are limited access to agricultural resources such as arable land and other assets; poor infrastructure; inadequate support services; institutional and organizational deficiencies; and little or no education, which limits the farmers' ability to innovate. The farmers find it hard to enter dynamic markets owing to their difficulty in providing reliable supplies of standard-quality produce in bulk. IFAD's approved programme in Brazil has therefore systematically targeted small farmers and addressed the constraints they face. However the country programme evaluation noted limited results in knowledge management, policy dialogue and the scaling up of successful project innovations. Experience gained under the Afro-Latino programme, FIDAFRIQUE and FIDAMERICA; Knowledge Networking for Rural Development in Asia/Pacific Region (ENRAP) and the Programme for Strengthening the Regional Capacity for Monitoring and Evaluation of Rural Poverty Alleviation Projects in Latin American and the Caribbean (PREVAL) are expected to help build capacity among IFAD project staff to assess and systematize innovative methods of dealing with rural poverty. Information on IFAD experience in Brazil will be disseminated by means of newsletters, brochures, Internet-based media, IFAD's website and the Rural Poverty Portal to ensure that relevant material is shared with IFAD-supported projects and programmes worldwide. The proposed projects for 2009 – the Piauí and Paraiba semiarid projects - will both include productive development approaches and support for the generation and dissemination of knowledge relevant to semi-arid areas with outcome indicators to monitor this. As part of the overall "package" approach to this middle-income country, a grant will be extended to facilitate policy dialogue on smallholder agriculture at the national and international levels among Common Market of the South countries (MERCOSUR) and within the context of overall South-South cooperation.

_

⁵ Accra Agenda for Action, Looking Forward, paragraph 28. Accra, 4 September 2008.

- 7. In many cases the rural poor are concentrated regionally or ethnically and have benefited little from increasing wealth in rapidly growing urban centres (see box 1 above). In some cases, the widening gap between the rural poor and the urban population has been a source of civil unrest that poses a threat to society at large.
- The country-level rationale. At the level of country operations, MICs themselves 8. see considerable value added in IFAD's efforts to help them address rural poverty. A number of factors are at work here. First, IFAD is perceived as open to governments' views and suggestions, and able to respond in a flexible manner. This enables IFAD to support innovative pilot programmes with a view to developing approaches that can be scaled up by the Government or other donors. Second, rural development is an area to which governments attach increasing weight (especially with recent food price increases) but often feel unable to come up with workable programmes. Drawing on its operational experience from across the developing world, IFAD can help design successful programmes in rural areas, such as supporting capacity development for local and community-based organizations, including civil society organizations; establishing effective water management systems; facilitating access to rural financial services; increasing productivity in farm and non-farm activities; and promoting gender equality and women's empowerment. Third, IFAD is prepared to support programmes in difficult and dangerous areas where there is a perception that "no one else is willing to go". Fourth, IFAD's business model has demonstrated its effectiveness in MICs with satisfactory development impact in over 80 per cent of IFAD-supported projects and programmes. The proposed support for Mauritius (see box 2 below) exemplifies many of these aspects of IFAD's value-added for MICs.

Box 2: Tackling rural unemployment in Mauritius

In the Mauritius Marine and Agricultural Resources Support Programme, IFAD has helped the Government of Mauritius assemble a package of activities and financing to address key rural development issues. The programme has been developed over the past two years to deal with the economic impact of phasing out sugar and textile preferences and rising fuel prices. The sugar problem alone has left 6,500 rural workers unemployed. There is no easy solution to these problems. IFAD is working with the Government to develop selective employment schemes in the context of a medium-term expenditure framework to diversify agriculture away from sugar, producing quality food products for the tourism sector, which is highly dependent upon imports. In addition, the programme is looking at sustainable fisheries development, including protection of coral reefs and selective fish farming activities in lagoons. IFAD is providing financing on ordinary terms for its US\$6 million loan, but the Government of Mauritius has made this contingent on IFAD bringing its interest rate in line with current International Bank for Reconstruction and Development rates. IFAD is also cofinancing the project with US\$400,000 of grant money, and has secured agreement for a grant of US\$700,000 under the Global Environment Facility/United Nations Development Programme small grants facility, and a grant from the Western Australian government of US\$375,000 for the fisheries component.

9. The capacity to transfer knowledge worldwide. A key feature of IFAD's work in MICs is generating knowledge to transfer to other developing countries, including on innovative approaches. Such knowledge transfer is a two-way process that enriches both MICs and low-income countries. Most of IFAD's lending to the Latin America region, including its loans in recent years to Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, El Salvador, Guatemala, Mexico, Panama, Peru, Uruguay and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, has been on ordinary terms. In addition to intraregional knowledge transfer, IFAD has the capacity for interregional knowledge transfer, to emerging MICs and to other Member States. IFAD's capacity to acquire and transfer knowledge worldwide, including to lower-income countries, is thus related in part to its engagement through non-concessional lending to MICs.

⁶ Annual Report on Results and Impact of IFAD Operations (ARRI) 2007, table 15.

- 10. **The case for a change in approach**. As with other IFIs, IFAD needs to enhance its products in a number of ways:
 - More competitive financial products. While IFAD has adjusted its interest rates in line with other IFIs, it offers its borrowers a single loan product with fixed grace periods, maturities and currencies that do not necessarily reflect the increasing sophistication of asset-liability management by MIC governments.
 - There is the need and the potential in MICs, as in other countries, to enhance effectiveness.
 - Greater IFAD country presence in MICs. This would translate into better country knowledge, as well as a closer and more continuous client relationship as a platform for business development.
 - More systematic retrieval and management of IFAD's substantial project experience to create an institution-wide knowledge resource. MICs are seeking a transfer of global and regional knowledge from IFIs and would welcome it in the difficult areas that IFAD focuses on. A recent assessment of IFAD's response to the 2005 independent external evaluation identified knowledge management as an area where further progress could be made under the Action Plan.⁷

IV. Availability of IFAD resources for middle-income countries

- 11. IFAD was established as a member-based institution to assist all developing Member States in addressing rural poverty issues. Over time it has served clients across the full spectrum of countries, from the poorest fragile states to upper middle-income countries. IFAD's mandate recognizes that it has a group of borrowers with income levels too high to warrant full concessionality but rural poverty issues that merit continued involvement. Thus it encompasses progression from highly concessional to intermediate to non-concessional terms as per capita incomes evolve. This forms the basis of practices at other IFIs such as the World Bank (see box 3). While IFAD's approach is not as formalized as that of the World Bank, it is current practice that high-income MICs do not receive loans. For the last 10 years, all Member States receiving IFAD intermediate or ordinary loans have continued to be eligible to receive either International Development Association (including blended) or International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) terms from the World Bank.
- 12. Consideration should be given to the question of whether this progression from highly concessional through intermediate to ordinary terms should take place, as is the practice at IBRD (see box 3). The IBRD model does not have a single cut-off, but rather a threshold to initiate a discussion with the country concerned. It is noted that no country currently borrowing from IFAD would be affected by IBRD practice.

.

⁷ Assessment of IFAD's Action Plan: Draft Report, pages 42 and 43. Freeman and Bie. 14 June 2008.

REPL.VIII/4/R.4

Box 3: Graduation practice of IBRD

According to IBRD policy, graduation reflects the achievements of a country in reaching a certain level of development, management capacity and access to capital markets. The policy also states that graduation from IBRD borrowing does not imply that the development process is complete. When a country reaches a GNP per capita benchmark, IBRD analyses its readiness for graduation based on access to capital markets and progress in establishing economic and social institutions. The current per capita income level for initiating the IBRD graduation process is US\$6,465 (effective 1 July 2008). Attainment of the per capita income level generally triggers a review of the country's development situation, including access to external capital markets on reasonable terms, and the extent of progress on establishing key institutions for economic and social development. Under such guidelines, Mexico, with a per capita income of US\$7,890, is still borrowing from IBRD.

IBRD takes a flexible approach to determining the pace of graduation. Graduation from new IBRD lending normally occurs within five years after a country crosses the graduation threshold. Over the past 10 years several countries have graduated from IBRD, most recently the Czech Republic and Slovenia, neither of which borrow from IFAD. IBRD graduates continue to be eliqible for International Finance Corporation operations for a number of years.

V. Adapting IFAD's approach to middle-income countries

- 13. There is clear evidence⁸ that IFAD makes a useful contribution to the efforts of many middle-income countries to address rural poverty issues. IFAD's basic business model is well adapted to the interests of MICs, providing for genuine partnership in developing programmes, ownership of projects on the part of MIC governments, and IFAD participation in pilot or innovative projects that governments might find difficult to undertake without IFAD involvement. Clearly, the situation is evolving and MICs are looking for additional services from IFAD. In particular, they want IFAD to provide somewhat more varied and efficient financial products, deeper knowledge content and more effective knowledge brokering, and greater support for innovation.
- 14. IFAD's strength lies in providing a package of services led by its loan and grant products and putting together a coalition of government, international partners, and civil society to support specific programmes for rural poverty reduction. MIC governments continue to want these services, but as part of the package. There may be very special situations where reimbursable activities are feasible, but the experience of other IFIs suggests that no ready market exists to develop a business product along these lines. There is a role, however, for collaborative programmes of the kind described in Thailand (see box 4), where IFAD can leverage in-kind contributions by its MIC members to benefit of its knowledge services more broadly. Moreover, IFAD would continue to monitor the experiences of other IFIs on this issue and draw on those lessons.

VI. Enhancing IFAD's financial products and services

15. **Current lending levels.** IFAD currently lends up to 20 per cent of its total commitments to MICs during a replenishment period, in line with the commitment to lend the majority of its resources on concessional terms. The frequency of loans to MICs is about one per replenishment period to the 7 or 8 larger MICs and one per two replenishments for the 10 to 12 smaller ones (see table below). This is not dissimilar to MIC lending levels by the other IFIs engaged in agriculture and rural development.

-

⁸ ARRI 2007, table 15.

⁹ While the World Bank has a reimbursable technical assistance programme for Saudi Arabia and provides technical expertise in areas such as telecoms privatization, countries' willingness to pay for such services has generally been limited to covering costs of their own staff as in Thailand, contributing to joint analytic work with the World Bank.

IFAD loans to MICs (2004-2006)

	Current US\$ million	Percentage
All IFAD loans	1416.3	100
IFAD loans to MICs:	254.7	18
At intermediate terms	81.1	6
At ordinary terms	173.6	12

- 16. There are four areas in which IFAD needs to consider enhancing its financial products for MICs:
 - (a) Maintaining ordinary lending rates comparable to those of other IFIs. Of the 48 IFAD Members that qualify for ordinary terms, 18 had current portfolios as of mid-2008. Most of these portfolios reflected borrowing when the countries concerned were eligible for intermediate or highly concessional terms, before they progressed to ordinary terms. Obviously, rapid growth in MIC incomes has and will continue to move an increasing number of MICs into less concessional rates and maturities. Argentina, Brazil, El Salvador, Mexico, Tunisia and Turkey, for example, all borrowed from IFAD on ordinary terms during the Sixth Replenishment period. Aligning and adjusting terms with other IFIs (in line with current practice) remain an important feature of IFAD's approach to MICs.
 - Providing middle-income countries with a wider range of financial **products.** This would include the review of potential changes in grace periods and maturities, and alternative financial products (i.e. alternatives to IFAD's long-term loans and grants denominated in special drawing rights). Changes in grace periods and maturities are possible within the established lending procedures and can be factored into IFAD's financial projections. The current three-year grace period for ordinary terms, which takes effect upon loan effectiveness, is an area where greater flexibility could be of benefit to borrowers, and IFAD could consider introducing the option of five-year grace periods (as currently applied to intermediate loans) for innovative projects (which often require considerable lead time to get under way) financed by ordinary term loans. The shorter grace period could be retained for projects that are essentially follow-up operations, e.g. expanding an area development programme into a new region. Similarly, IFAD could consider the range of maturity options that the IBRD currently offers its borrowers. In the medium term, IFAD could consider alternative financial products such as the dedicated facility to handle operations with the private sector (as noted in the paper IFAD's Response to the Emerging Role of the Private Sector [REPL.VIII/4/R.6]), which should be particularly attractive within MICs, rather than, at this stage, providing alternative currency options to the special drawing right.
 - (c) Lowering the transaction costs of borrowing from IFAD. The transaction costs of loan preparation and implementation require further review but could be lowered, as far as procurement and financial management during implementation is concerned, if IFIs make greater use of the national systems of MICs (therefore supporting the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness and the Accra Agenda for Action). IFAD may want to look specifically at these options in its country strategic opportunities programmes (COSOPs) and project design in MICs. 10 Processes could be streamlined for projects involving replication. In particular, the requirement to evaluate projects prior to financing a second phase is an area where significant cost and time savings could be achieved through selective rather than general application (e.g. unless supervision indicates fully satisfactory performance

¹⁰ Because IFAD is operating in rural areas often with procurement carried out through multiple small contracts, a move to the use of country systems may be much less controversial than in the case of other IFIs.

- during the first phase). Nevertheless, it is important to note that IFAD is operating in a particularly difficult area and that most of the IFIs spend a great deal of time preparing projects designed to tackle rural poverty. IFAD in particular focuses on participatory processes and the involvement of local stakeholders in design and implementation.
- (d) Reducing the costs of preparing IFAD country strategies in middle-income countries with small programmes. Results-based COSOPs are designed for and are appropriate for countries with an extensive existing and planned IFAD portfolio. For most MICs with perhaps only one project during an allocation period, a shorter document, focusing on the particular rural poverty situation in the MIC and defining an IFAD strategy, programme (including knowledge products) and modalities that focus on specific demand issues may be a more appropriate alternative, e.g. a brief five-page country partnership note.

VII. Enhancing IFAD's knowledge products and services

- 17. IFAD has a wide variety of knowledge products, largely based on the projects it supports, that provide a source of learning for the country concerned, IFAD staff and potentially other countries. This is supported and enhanced by the use of IFAD grant financing to selectively promote capacity-building and knowledge creation and transfer within countries, as well as knowledge transfer across countries. The country-level knowledge base also includes COSOPs, which are primarily intended to develop a consensus (and country ownership) around the strategic approach to be followed and how IFAD lending will support that approach. Their starting point is a descriptive overview of rural poverty in the country, and they also contain detailed analysis of in-country institutional capacity that can serve as a basis for policy dialogue.
- 18. This country-level programmatic knowledge base is further supported by a limited number of free-standing analytical studies (such as two recent regional reviews of rural poverty carried out jointly with the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [FAO]), conferences and regional knowledge-sharing events used specifically to disseminate particular knowledge products. Increasingly important, IFAD has sponsored regional networks (e.g. Knowledge Networking for Rural Development in Asia/Pacific Region [ENRAP] and FIDAMERICA) to link its projects at the regional level and allow for cross-regional learning by participating staff and others. Finally, IFAD's Office of Evaluation produces selective evaluations at country and project level, from both an accountability and a learning perspective, and these form part of a broader annual assessment of IFAD's effectiveness in the form of the ARRI. These products add up to a potential knowledge content that has not yet been formally structured around what IFAD's MIC borrowers are looking for and, subsequently, how to effectively transfer it from IFAD to MICs and, with both IFAD and MIC support, across countries.
- 19. **IFAD Strategy for Knowledge Management.** The strategy proposes a comprehensive agenda for improving IFAD's learning from development practice so that it increasingly becomes a knowledge-based organization. It encompasses a clear set of objectives and a broad-gauged approach to achieving them, through an identification of core knowledge themes, the instruments needed for improved learning and knowledge-sharing at the country level, the cultural and behavioural changes needed for implementation, and the integration of the approach into a cost-effective results framework. Based on its findings and recommendations, the strategy's implementation is to pay particular attention to a number of areas for strengthening IFAD's knowledge management to benefit MICs:
 - (a) **Deepening the knowledge IFAD captures from its projects.** IFAD devotes a great deal of time and effort to assessing whether its projects and programmes have yielded the expected results. Its project completion reports

are in-house products that serve the project authorities and IFAD managers concerned. As in other IFIs, such reports rarely resonate beyond this limited audience. IFAD also undertakes country programme evaluations and selective in-depth project evaluations. These are extensive exercises, with teams of consultants spending considerable time in the country and with highly developed methodologies and data requirements. There are invariably workshops – in-country and within IFAD – to discuss conclusions and recommendations, which inform the ARRI produced by the Office of Evaluation. These are a source of learning for the managers concerned and the scope remains for a wider institutional audience. Greater emphasis could be placed on thematic evaluations (such as the thematic evaluation on IFAD's experience with rural finance) that draw on IFAD's project completion reports and country studies, and provide guidance to borrowing countries and IFAD staff on approaches to be adopted in areas such as water management and indigenous populations.

- (b) Increasing IFAD's country presence so as to deepen its country knowledge for enhanced programme design and supervision. As part of its phased introduction of country presence, IFAD has appointed country presence officers in two MICs, China and Egypt. In both cases, these officers are considered to have made important contributions to a better dialogue, improved country knowledge and more effective capacity-building, and to have laid the groundwork for further knowledge exchange and use.
- (c) **IFAD should deepen its intra-institutional knowledge sharing**. IFAD needs to focus much more on how to disseminate best practices institutionwide, e.g. IFAD could institute a learning week along the lines of the sector weeks in the World Bank. This would also facilitate and make greater use of partnering with other IFIs to mainstream or replicate such approaches in MICs. Regional directors could be specifically charged with intraregional and cross-regional knowledge sharing as part of their accountabilities.
- (d) Selective use of grants to promote capacity-building in middle-income countries and knowledge brokering among developing countries, particularly between middle-income and low-income countries. During the three-year Seventh Replenishment period, IFAD provided about US\$4.5 million of grants to 13 MICs. In most cases, the purpose of the grants was capacity development, in line with the practice of other IFIs and bilateral donors. While some of these grants went to governments, some went to partner organizations (two to FAO and one to the United Nations Development Programme) for country-based work. In select instances (see box 4), these grants play an important role in IFAD's knowledge management.
- (e) Expanding IFAD's role as a knowledge broker, helping middle-income countries to bring their own knowledge to other middle-income or low-income countries. There is a great deal of interest among many of the larger MICs, such as Brazil, China, South Africa and Thailand, in making their knowledge more broadly available. There is strong support among country programme managers for IFAD to play a much larger role in brokering this process of South-South knowledge transfer on rural poverty issues.
- (f) **IFAD should make greater use of partnering with other IFIs to mainstream or replicate approaches in MICs**. IFAD should enter into partnerships with other IFIs to scale up successful approaches tested under

_

¹¹ A recent initiative in El Salvador piloted a participatory project closing workshop as part of project completion report preparation. At this event, beneficiaries, farmers' organizations, NGOs, government, donors and private-sector representatives came together with communities' representatives to share knowledge about the experience and identify ways to continue supporting the communities after project closing. This was viewed by all as a very positive experience and could be considered as an integral part of the project process to enhance client feedback and sustainability.

IFAD projects. This would "enhance operational effectiveness" as highlighted in the paper on Collaboration and Partnerships for Increased Impact and Effectiveness (REPL.VIII/4/R.9). IFAD's project completion reports on successful programmes or components should explicitly discuss their readiness for scaling up and related options.

Box 4: IFAD's role in knowledge brokering in Thailand

IFAD has used its capacity to provide financial assistance through small grants in maintaining links with Thailand and helping Thailand's Ministry of Agriculture develop its own capacity and provide support to weaker administrations in other Asian countries. A grant to the Ministry is helping it strengthen monitoring and evaluation through training events, and then using its officials to support supervision and other activities in some of the neighbouring countries. Two regional grants are also providing important support for Thailand's interest in transferring its own knowledge to other countries. One is work on biofuels cofinanced with the Asian Development Bank – in Cambodia, China, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Myanmar, Thailand and Viet Nam. Case studies were recently presented and discussed in Manila. The second is a grant for the Programme for Enhancing the Agricultural Competitiveness of Rural Households in the Greater Mekong Subregion. While this is not perceived either by IFAD or the Thai Government as constituting a full-fledged programme, there is scope for building this into a more formal partnership along the lines of the knowledge partnerships that Thailand has entered into with the World Bank.

VIII. Enhancing IFAD's role in innovation

- 20. Innovation is another area in which IFAD can add value to its involvement with MICs. Two key issues provide the parameters for IFAD's role. First, a number of MIC governments have indicated that they appreciate IFAD's capacity and willingness to engage in small pilot and innovative loan/grant programmes, often not yet taken up by at the government level. Second, innovation needs to be seen as the central component of IFAD's involvement in MICs, since these countries have been a birthplace for innovative approaches that can and should be applied to low-income countries and fragile States.
- 21. Governments look to IFAD to demonstrate the viability of these programmes and, if appropriate, to advise and assist them on scaling up. Innovation usually begins with the activities of individuals, NGOs or local government bodies. IFAD can assist in the field trials through its grant programme or through a small loan component where, subsequently, the activity usually expands into an area-based programme that IFAD can support through its normal lending programme. Nevertheless, IFAD must be careful to limit those financing activities in MICs that only support the expansion of well established national programmes, and must apply the value-added test to its lending to MICs to ensure that it adds a strategy, policy or knowledge dimension to the programmes it supports. For example, joining a sector-based programme, as advocated by the Accra Agenda for Action, may be important in giving IFAD a seat at the table and enabling it to serve as a voice for the rural poor and an instrument for steering programmes in the direction of supporting them.
- 22. IFAD needs to find ways to partner with governments and other agencies in replicating successful innovation. IFAD needs to see itself as an advocate for successful innovations and may need to channel its own resources into mainstreaming important innovations, recognizing the role of partner institutions in taking the leadership as the activity expands and is replicated.
- 23. The transfer of knowledge on successful innovation across countries is another important challenge. IFAD needs to do the best possible job of making success stories widely known within the institution and accessible to borrower countries and other agencies. This capture of experience needs to be written into the job description for country programme managers and their managers.

IX. The way forward: key actions

24. IFAD will:

- Consider a wider choice of IFAD financing terms for MICs, e.g. with regard to the lending period and grace period.
- Review its internal loan processing procedures with a view to streamlining IFAD procedures for developing new country strategies and projects in MICs that have a strong track record of success in implementing IFAD-supported projects and programmes.
- Explore a wider variety of IFAD instruments than just sovereign lending and grants.
- Review modalities to enable those countries that may decide to cease borrowing from IFAD to continue to access IFAD's technical expertise.
- Consider developing transparent criteria_(drawing on those used by the World Bank) to open a dialogue between IFAD and the Member State about its continuing need to borrow from IFAD.
- Continue to implement the Knowledge Management Strategy in MICs, and pursue more active promotion of South-South cooperation, which will include supporting MICs in their efforts to promote knowledge sharing and innovation in low-income countries.
- Prepare a paper for consideration by the Executive Board by December 2009 on the issues raised in paragraphs 24 to 29.